IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAWTON CHILES, as Governor of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 93,665 DCA NO. 97-2359

STATE EMPLOYEES ATTORNEYS GUILD and RAYMOND J. GREENE,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Florida First District Court of Appeal

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KIMBERLY J. TUCKER DEPUTY GENERAL COUNSEL Florida Bar No. 0516937

LOUIS F. HUBENER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 140084

GERALD B. CURINGTON Assistant Deputy Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0224170

M. CATHERINE LANNON Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0263941

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 23, 1993, the State Employees Attorneys Guild (SEAG) filed a petition with the Public Employees Relations Commission (PERC) seeking representation-certification of a bargaining unit composed of attorneys who are employed by the State of Florida, pursuant to Section 447.307 (2), Fla. Stat., (1991) (PERC Case No. RC-93-019). The bargaining unit was defined pursuant to Rule 38D-17.023(2) (b), F.A.C., promulgated by PERC in 1987.¹ PERC entered an order finding reasonable cause to believe the petition sufficient and ordered an evidentiary hearing on questions concerning representation and unit determination.

The State's response contended that the proposed bargaining unit was an unconstitutional attempt to regulate and alter the practice of law in derogation of this Court's exclusive jurisdiction under Article V, § 15 of the Florida Constitution. The State then filed a Petition for a Writ of Prohibition in this Court.

In SEAG's response to this Court's Order to Show Cause in that prior case, SEAG contended that the absence of any express legislative exclusion of or reference to government attorneys in Section 447.203, was persuasive proof in support of its position that the State as client had either waived or consented to any

 $^{^{1}}$ No attorneys ever unionized under this now-repealed rule. (T 67).

conflict with, or alterations of, the attorney-client

relationship. SEAG specifically said:

Even if this legislation alters or impacts upon the attorney-client relationship in some manner, this Court lacks the power to intercede because the Legislature, not this Court, determines on behalf of the client--the people of the State of Florida--which aspects of the attorney-client governmental relationship are available to By failing to specifically exempt entities. of "public definition the attornevs from employees" in Section 447.203(3), Florida Statutes (1991), the Legislature has preserved collective bargaining rights for state-employed attorneys and has either waived or consented to any conflicts with or alterations of the traditional attorneyclient relationship the exercise of these rights might entail.

(R. SEAG Response to Order to Show Cause issued in Supreme Court Case No. 81,835, pp. 5-6).

Ultimately, this Court denied the petition on procedural grounds, finding it had no jurisdiction to issue a writ of prohibition to PERC because PERC was not a court. This Court also denied a writ under its "all writs" authority because collective bargaining did not, per se, encroach upon its jurisdiction to admit or discipline attorneys.² This Court did recognize the possibility that subsequent rulings by PERC could interfere with its regulation of the practice of law and thereby provide a basis for invoking the Court's jurisdiction. State ex

² Specifically, this Court held that "We find that collective bargaining by state employed attorneys does not encroach upon this Court's jurisdiction over the admission of attorneys to the practice of law or the discipline of attorneys." State ex rel. Chiles v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 630 So.2d 1093, 1095 (Fla. 1994).

rel. Chiles v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 630 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 1994).

Less than two months later, the Legislature passed Chapter 94-89, Laws of Florida (1994), by almost unanimous vote (with only one dissent) and the Governor signed it into law, codified as section 447.203(3)(j), Florida Statutes(D. Ex. 33, p. 5). This amendment specifically excludes from the definition of "public employee" in section 447.203(3), Fla. Stat., "[t]hose persons who by virtue of their positions of employment are regulated by the Florida Supreme Court pursuant to s. 15, Article V of the State Constitution."

Subsequent to the enactment of Section 447.203(3)(j), PERC dismissed SEAG's petition for lack of jurisdiction. SEAG appealed PERC's order to the First District Court of Appeal which affirmed the dismissal without prejudice to SEAG's right to seek a declaratory judgment challenging Section 447.203(3)(j) on constitutional grounds. *SEAG v. State*, 653 So.2d 487 (Fla.1st DCA 1995.) Because of the lack of a factual record, the District Court declined the parties' joint request to reach the question of the constitutionality of section 447.203(3)(j), Fla. Stat. *Id*.

On July 5, 1995, SEAG and Raymond J. Greene, a stateemployed lawyer, filed a one-count complaint seeking a declaration that section 447.203(3)(j), Fla. Stat., violates Art. I, §6 of the Florida Constitution (R 1).

On July 23, 1996, Gov. Chiles moved the trial court for entry of partial summary judgment contending that deputies and assistants of the Attorney General and the Statewide Prosecutor are officers, not "public employees", and thus not entitled to collective bargaining under Chapter 447, Florida Statutes. (R 32) The lower court entered partial summary judgment declaring that "[f]or purposes of determining the Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, Deputy and Assistant Attorneys General and Assistant Statewide Prosecutors will not be considered 'public employees' within the meaning of Chapter 447, F.S." (R 155,158)

Following a bench trial, the lower court entered a final judgment on May 19, 1997, declaring section 447.203(3)(j), Fla. Stat. (1995), to be "an unconstitutional abridgment of Article I, Section 6 which is not justified by a compelling state interest implemented in the least intrusive manner possible." (R 243). An appeal was timely filed on June 11, 1997. (R 244) Plaintiffs filed a notice of cross-appeal regarding the entry of partial summary judgment. (R 268)

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's determination that Section 447.203(3)(j) was an unconstitutional abridgement of Article I, section 6, of the Florida Constitution. The First District relied in large part in making this determination on this Court's holding in *State ex rel. Chiles v. Public Employees Relations Commission, supra,* stating that:

. . . In finding "that collective bargaining by state-employed attorneys does not encroach upon this Court's jurisdiction over . . . the discipline of attorneys," *State ex rel. Chiles*, 630 So.2d at 1095, the supreme court has in effect rejected the argument the state makes here that permitting attorneys to bargain collectively would somehow entail a breach of professional ethics. <u>See id</u>.

In short, the state did not demonstrate that a blanket ban on collective bargaining by public employees working as attorneys is the least onerous means of protecting the attorney-client relationships between the lawyers and the public Evidence entities which employ them. of bargaining procedures in other collective jurisdictions showed that collective bargaining procedures can be fashioned to accommodate both public employers' interests in assuring fidelity and competence in their attorneys and the constitutional right public attorneys' as We hold that employees to bargain collectively. the trial court correctly declared section Statutes 447.203(3)(i), Florida (1997), unconstitutional.

Chiles v. State Employees Attorneys Guild and Greene, 23 Fla.L.W. D1348 (June 3, 1998).

This appeal, pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii),

Fla.R.App.P., was timely filed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the first round of litigation over SEAG's effort to unionize the State's attorneys, this Court addressed the issue of whether unionization encroached upon the Court's exclusive jurisdiction over the regulation of the practice of law provided in Article V, section 15 of the Florida Constitution. In the case at bar, the question presented is whether Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution deprives the State, as a client, of the right all other clients have to refuse to consent to its attorneys undertaking the adverse interest inherent in collective bargaining.

There are two primary issues before this Court which need to be considered in determining the constitutionality of Section 447.203(3)(j), Florida Statutes. First, did the Florida Legislature, as client, properly determine that it has a compelling state interest in preserving its attorneys' traditional duty of giving complete confidentiality, fidelity and loyalty to the client. And second, whether the exclusion from the definition of "public employee" of individuals serving the State in an attorney-client relationship, contained in Section 447.203(3)(j), is a constitutionally permissible means of achieving the State's compelling interest.

Both the trial court and the District Court properly acknowledged that the State has a compelling interest in the

lawyer-client relationship between the State and the employeeattorneys who represent it. However, the District Court improperly held that the exclusion in Section 447.203(3)(j) was not the "least onerous means of protecting the attorney-client relationships between the lawyers and the public entities which employ them." *Chiles v. SEAG and Greene*, 23 Fla.L.W. at 1350. This holding was in error both in the standard applied as well as the conclusion reached.

The exclusion set forth in Section 447.203(3)(j) achieves the compelling state interest of maintaining government attorneys' traditional duty under the attorney-client relationship to give complete confidentiality, fidelity, and loyalty to their governmental client. The exclusion is narrowly drawn to limit the collective bargaining rights of only those persons who represent the State in an attorney-client capacity -not all employees who are members of the Florida Bar. There is no other reasonable alternative means of preserving the complete confidentiality, fidelity and loyalty of the attorney-client relationship than having all attorneys abide by that duty.

The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar require the consent of the client before a lawyer can undertake an interest adverse to a client's interest. Collective bargaining represents such an adverse interest, given its inherently adversarial nature. Accordingly, the State, as client, must give its express consent

for the attorneys who represent it to be permitted to engage in such an adversarial relationship.

In every other instance in which attorneys representing a governmental entity as client have been permitted to collectively bargain, they have done so with the express and limited consent of the legislative body authorized to make such determinations on behalf of the client government. In no instance has a governmental client been compelled to submit to the antagonistic relationship inherent in collective bargaining with its attorneys over the client's express refusal to consent to such an assault on the integrity of the traditional attorney-client relationship.

Adoption by the people of Florida of Article I, section 6, in 1968, in no way constituted knowing or informed consent for its attorneys to collectively bargain. There was no private sector precedent in Florida for such bargaining by attorneys when Article I, section 6 was adopted. The Legislature has unambiguously enunciated its refusal to consent to such an affront to its attorney-client relationship now. Common sense would dictate that the very last group to which clients would consent to engage in the adversarial relationship of collective bargain with would be those to whom they look to represent their interests. Indeed, in light of the traditional, uniform and statutory exclusion of managerial and confidential employees from collective bargaining, it is inconceivable that the voters of

this State ever intended their attorneys -- those who have the most confidential of all relationships with their clients -- be allowed to collectively bargain when they voted to ratify Article I, section 6.

Additionally, in resolving the issue of the constitutionality of Section 447.203(3)(j), Florida Statutes, the Court should resolve now the status of Deputies and Assistants to the Attorney General and Statewide Prosecutor. Such resolution is integral to the question of the breadth, or overbreadth, of Section 447.203(3)(j). Further, resolution of this issue now is in the interest of judicial economy and in the public's best interest.

Accordingly, this Court should uphold the constitutionality of Section 447.203(3)(j), Florida Statutes, and reverse the First District Court of Appeal. In addition, the Court should recognize the status of deputies and assistants of both the Attorney General and the Statewide Prosecutor as officers and not "public employees" within the meaning of Section 447.203(3), Florida Statutes.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STANDARD TO APPLY IN DETERMINING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 447.203(3)(j) IS WHETHER THE EXCLUSION OF ATTORNEYS FROM THE DEFINITION OF "PUBLIC EMPLOYEE" IS SUPPORTED BY A COMPELLING STATE INTEREST -- A STANDARD THE STATE HAS MET. THE LOWER COURTS ERRED IN APPLYING A DIFFERENT STANDARD

In 1968, the people of Florida ratified Art. I, section 6, Florida Constitution, which dealt with the right of employees to collectively bargain.³ This provision is not self-executing and required legislative action to define and implement the parameters of collective bargaining.⁴ Dade County Classroom Teachers Association, Inc. v. Legislature, 269 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1972). In 1974, after an admonition by this Court, the Legislature enacted Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes, to codify and implement the parameters of collective bargaining for public employees.

³ That constitutional provision provides as follows:

⁴ The parties stipulated that Article I, section 6 was not self-executing. (R 1:46, **115-9**).

SECTION 6. Right to Work.-- The right of persons to work shall not be denied or abridged on account of membership or non-membership in any labor union or labor organization. The right of employees, by and through a labor organization, to bargain collectively shall not be denied or abridged. Public employees shall not have the right to strike.

While this Court has been vigilant in upholding the right of public employees to collectively bargain, the Court has also recognized that public employee bargaining is not the same as private bargaining. United Teachers of Dade v. Dade County School Board, 500 So.2d 508, 512 (Fla.1986); State v. Florida Police Benev. Ass'n, Inc., 613 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1992). "In fact, courts and commentators uniformly agree that public bargaining is inherently different from private bargaining." State v. Florida Police Benev. Ass'n, Inc., 613 So.2d at 417.

This Court has specifically noted the need to construe public employees' constitutional right to collectively bargain in accordance with all provisions of the constitution.⁵ Thus, the collective bargaining rights of public employees are subject to the Legislature's exclusive jurisdiction over appropriations, in accordance with the doctrine of Separation of Powers. State v.

⁵ The Court stated specifically that:

State v. Florida Police Benev. Ass'n, Inc., 613 So.2d at 417.

The constitutional right to bargain must be construed in accordance with all provisions of the constitution. Surely it was not intended to alter fundamental constitutional principles, such as the separation of powers doctrine. Under the Florida Constitution, exclusive control over public funds rest solely with the legislature. Art. VII, Sec. 1(c), Fla. Const. ("No money shall be drawn from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law."). This fact in and of itself necessitates a realization that public and private bargaining is inherently different.

Florida Police Benev. Ass'n, Inc., supra. Likewise, the alleged collective bargaining rights of state-employed attorneys' must be construed in accordance with the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, particularly those provisions relating to the rights of the State as client. Rules 4-1.7; 4-1.9; 4-1.11 (Comment), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

A. The Proper Test

The District Court erred in failing to consider the State's right as a client to decline to consent to the undertaking of an adverse interest by its attorneys. In so doing, the District Court applied the wrong standard to its consideration of the constitutionality of Section 447.203(3)(j), Florida Statutes.

The right to collectively bargain is, as a part of the State Constitution's Declaration of Rights, a fundamental right. As a consequence, this Court has held that the right to collectively bargain can only be abridged upon a showing of a compelling state interest. Chiles v. United Faculty of Florida, 615 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1993); Hillsborough County Governmental Employees Ass'n, Inc. v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority, 522 So.2d 358 (Fla.1988).

However, this Court has also explicitly recognized that, because Article I, section 6 is not self-executing, "considerable deference" should be accorded legislative enactments "regulating" the subject matter embraced by this provision. Dade County

Classroom Teachers Ass'n v. Ryan, 225 So.2d 903, 906 (Fla. 1969) (citing, inter alia, Jasper v. Mease Manor, Inc., 208 So.2d 821 (Fla. 1968)). With respect to constitutional provisions that are not self-executing the test for measuring legislation against the constitutional requirement "must be that of a reasonable relationship." Jasper, supra, 208 So.2d at 825.

Consistent with this principle, the State was previously required to show "a strong rational basis for abridgement which is justified by a compelling state interest," in considering the constitutionality of an exclusion of a class of employees from the definition of "public employee" and, thus, collective bargaining. United Faculty of Florida, Local 1847 v. Board of Regents, 417 So.2d 1055, 1057 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). In United Faculty, the First District Court of Appeal applied this standard and determined that the exclusion of graduate assistants from the definition of "public employee" in Section 447.203(3)(i) was unsupported by sufficiently compelling reasons and was, thus, unconstitutional.

This is <u>not</u> the standard applied by the First District Court of Appeal in this case, however. Indeed, both the trial court and the District Court concede that the State of Florida has met the burden of demonstrating a compelling state interest in excluding its attorneys from adversarial collective bargaining.

Below, the First District held that:

interest public employers have in the The relationship between themselves as clients and their employees who represent them as attorneys may fairly be said to be compelling. See Rosenberg v. Levin, 409 So.2d 1016, 1021 (Fla. 1982) (stating the relationship is "one of special trust and confidence"); State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Dawson, 111 So.2d 427, 432 (Fla. 1959); see also The Florida Bar v. Doe, 550 So.2d 1111, 1113 (Fla. 1989); Sohn v. Brockington, 371 So.2d 1089, 1093 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (citing Salopek v. Schoemann, 124 P.2d 21 (Cal. 1942) (Gibson, C.J., concurring)).

Chiles v. State Employees Attorneys Guild, 23 Fla.L.W. at 1349-1350.

Likewise, the trial court found:

that the state of Florida does have a compelling interest in the lawyer-client relationship, as codified in the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, between the state and the attorneys it employs. of competence, particular obligations The diligence, confidence, and avoidance of conflicts of interest owed by lawyers to their clients are defining characteristics of the functions of a The fact that a lawyer is hired by a lawyer. state agency rather than by individual clients basic ethical lawyer's does not negate a obligations.

(R. II: 233-34).

However, both the trial court and District Court erred in imposing an additional burden on the State by requiring not only the demonstration of a compelling interest, but also that the means employed for achieving that interest are the "least burdening" to state employees' rights to bargain collectively. Such heightened scrutiny is not appropriate under the circumstances of this case. Legislative declarations of public purpose are presumed valid and are to be considered correct unless patently erroneous. State v. Division of Bond Finance, 495 So.2d 183, 184 (Fla. 1986). What constitutes a public purpose is, in the first instance, a question for the Legislature to determine, and its opinion should be given great weight. State v. Housing Finance Authority of Polk County, 376 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 1979). More to the point, this Court has held that legislative enactments regulating collective bargaining of public employees should be accorded considerable deference by the judiciary. Dade County Classroom Teachers' Association, Inc. v. Ryan, 225 So.2d at 906; see also City of Tallahassee v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 393 So.2d 1147, 1150 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), <u>aff'd.</u>, 410 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1982).

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