Dd7 FILED SID J. WHITE IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SEP 30 1998 CLERK, SUPREME COURT 8y_ Chief Deputy Clerk

LAWTON CHILES, as Governor of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 93,665 DCA No. 97-2359

STATE EMPLOYEES ATTORNEYS GUILD and RAYMOND J. GREENE,

Appellees.

APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF

THOMAS W. BROOKS Florida Bar No: 0191034

ANTHONY D. DEMMA Florida Bar No: 0945870

MEYER AND BROOKS, P.A. 2544 Blairstone Pines Drive Post Office Box 1547 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (850) 878-5212 - Telephone (850) 656-6750 - Facsimile

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

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

Richard Casagrande, from New York, has been involved with private and public sector attorney collective bargaining in New York for approximately 20 years. He has been both an attorney represented for purposes of collective bargaining with his employer and a management representative bargaining with his employee attorneys. Further, in his current capacity as General Counsel and Executive Director of the Professional Employees Federation (PEF), which represents a statewide bargaining unit of more than 700 attorneys employed by the State of New York in various executive agencies, Mr. Casagrande has been involved on a daily basis with the union representatives conducting collective bargaining and grievance

-33-

resolution activities on behalf of PEF and with the management representatives negotiating on the behalf of the State of New York. (Pl. Ex. 22, pp. 4-8, 11, 15, 22-23, 51-52).

Sherwood Zink of Wisconsin has been employed as an attorney for the State of Wisconsin in various executive department capacities over the past 25 years; has held various high level positions within the Wisconsin Bar Association, including membership on the Executive Committee and Board of Governors; has been a member of the Wisconsin State Attorneys Association since about 1975; has served as president of that organization for approximately eight years; and has participated in collective bargaining activities on behalf of the union. (Pl. Ex. 23, pp. 4-10).

Stephen DeNigris, a member of the Florida Bar, served for approximately four years as a field attorney for the Federal Labor Relations Authority, the federal agency counterpart to PERC. During that time he was a member of a bargaining unit that included field attorneys and the non-attorney labor relations specialists in the FLRA's Washington, D.C., regional office. Mr. DeNigris was therefore in a position to become aware of any ethical and attorneyclient relationship problems associated with government attorney collective bargaining, both because he routinely handled federal agency labor-management disputes, including those involving federal agency attorney units, and because of his personal involvement in an attorney unit. (Pl. Ex. 21, p. 9-13).

-34-

The State not only did not submit any testimony to rebut the testimony of these witnesses, it did not present a single witness who had any personal experience whatsoever with attorney collective bargaining, including its labor law expert. It is therefore not surprising that Judge Clark credited Appellees' witness testimony over the State's speculative assertions, particularly where it had the burden of proof under the strict scrutiny standard.

Because attorney collective bargaining has not occurred in Florida, the best benchmark to evaluate the significance of the State's asserted interest is to determine whether other jurisdictions having attorney collective bargaining have found it necessary to impose the significant restrictions sought to be justified by the State in this case. The circuit court did so, and the unequivocal conclusion was that these other jurisdictions did not find it necessary to do so. This finding alone provides a sufficient basis for this Court to affirm the final judgment.

3. <u>The Collective Bargaining Process in</u> <u>Florida Is Not Materially Different</u> <u>from Those in Other Jurisdictions</u> <u>Having Attorney Collective Bargaining</u>

The State asserted at trial and in its brief that Florida's public sector collective bargaining law as implemented by PERC is uniquely hostile to maintenance of the attorney-client relationship. In fact, the testimony of the State's ethics expert is premised primarily on the assertion that in Florida, everything is mandatorily negotiable, including the surrender of attorneys'

-35-

ethical obligations. (T. 334-35, 373, 380). The circuit court correctly rejected these erroneous assertions in making her findings regarding the Florida collective bargaining process. (R 227-30).

Contrary to Professor Rotunda's assumption, everything is not negotiable in Florida. Although the scope of mandatory negotiations in Florida may be considered relatively broad, there is no material difference in the scope of negotiations in Florida and those of other private and public sector jurisdictions. Although some differences do exist with regard to particular subjects, the basic scope of negotiations is essentially the same as it relates to the issues involved in this case. (T. 205, 593-95). In fact, the scope of mandatory negotiations in Florida can be considered more narrow than in the private sector because several significant subjects such deduction, grievance procedure with binding union dues as arbitration, and a management rights provision are mandated by statute in Florida, but must be negotiated between the parties in the private sector. (T. 593-96). Moreover, as the circuit court found, Section 447.209, Florida Statutes (1995), sets forth various matters which the public employer has the right to determine unilaterally without going through collective bargaining, including the right to direct employees, which includes the determination of which attorney should be assigned to handle a particular legal Manatee Education Association v. Manatee County School matter. Board, 7 FPER ¶12017 (1980) (assignment and reassignment of employees to tasks within the scope of their basic employment duties

-36-

is a management right). Any restriction on these management rights resulting from collective bargaining could occur only with the consent and agreement of the public employer and its legislative body. (T. 147, 160, 593-600, 614-16); §§ 447.203(14) and 447.309(1), Fla. Stat. (1995).

PERC has also recognized that certain subjects of bargaining are illegal and cannot be bargained or agreed to by the parties even if they want to do so. For example, a provision which required bargaining unit employees to contribute a portion of their leave time to a pool to be used by employee union representatives to do union business during work time was held to be illegal in <u>Delaney</u> <u>v. City of Hialeah</u>, 9 FPER ¶14339 (1984), <u>aff'd</u>, 458 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA 1984). A proposal by a union representing publicly employed attorneys to relieve the attorneys of any of their obligations under the Rules of Professional Conduct would similarly be held by PERC to be an illegal subject of bargaining because it would be a clear violation of public policy to permit a public employer to enter into such an agreement.¹⁰ (T. 518, 600-02).

With respect to the issue of at will employment of attorneys, Section 110.604, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1995), provides that "employees

¹⁰ Of course, there is no reason to believe that any attorney union would ever intentionally do so. Contrary to the State's hyperbole, attorney unions negotiate agreements not materially different than other unions. (Pl. Ex. 20a, 20c, 20q, 20r). In Wisconsin, the agreement contains a specific provision stating that the attorney's ethical obligations take precedence over any conflicting contract provision or work rule. (Pl. Ex. 20r, Art. VIII, §2).

in the Selected Exempt Service shall be subject to termination at will." In order for that at will status to change, the Legislature would be required to amend this statute, even if there were an agreement in collective bargaining negotiations establishing just cause for discipline or discharge.¹¹ (T. 413-16); § 447.309(3), <u>Fla.</u> Stat. (1995). However, both ethics experts agreed that a statute authorizing something other than at will employment for state employed attorneys would override any ethics rule to the contrary. (T. 426-28, 502-04). Nor do the Rules of Professional Conduct in Florida prohibit attorneys from negotiating anything other than at will employment. Rather, the comment to the applicable rule, Rule 4-1.2, states only that an attorney may not ask a client to surrender the right to terminate the lawyer's services. Thus, even in a private client context, a lawyer may negotiate the terms of his discharge within ethical limits. (T. 498-502); Cohen v. Radio-Electronics Officer's Union, District III, MEBA, 679 A.2d 1188 (N.J. 1995). Because the Florida Legislature has the power to authorize, as it did prior to placing attorneys in the Selected Exempt Service,¹² the employment of its in-house attorneys on something other than an at will basis, it would not be improper for a union

¹¹ § 447.309(3), Fla. Stat. (1995). Similar provisions exist in New York and California. (Pl. Ex. 10, § 3517.6; Pl. Ex. 11, § 204-a(1)).

¹² Prior to 1985, state employed attorneys were included in the Career Service System and were therefore not terminable at will. (Pl. Ex. 6-9).

representing those attorneys to request in collective bargaining negotiations that the State agree to simply ask the Legislature to do so again. (T. 502-03, 506-08).

In sum, there is nothing unique about the collective bargaining scheme in the Florida public sector which is likely to make attorney collective bargaining materially different from such bargaining in other jurisdictions. (T. 616-21).

4. <u>Any Required "Consent" to the Effects</u> of Attorney Collective Bargaining Has <u>Been Granted by the People Through</u> <u>Article I, Section 6 of the Florida</u> <u>Constitution</u>

The State attempts to blunt the persuasive force of the circuit court's findings by arguing that experience in other jurisdictions is irrelevant because, in those jurisdictions the legislatures have waived any conflicts and consented to a "debased" relationship with their attorneys. This argument is both irrelevant and absurd.

It is absurd because there is no reason to believe that the legislatures in other states knowingly consented to the necessary destruction of the attorney-client relationship which the State argues is the inevitable consequence of attorney collective bargaining. The more rational answer is that arrived at by the circuit court, that attorney collective bargaining simply does not have such dire consequences.

The argument is irrelevant in Florida because the right to collectively bargain emanates from the Constitution itself.

-39-

Consequently, the Legislature simply does not have the power to consent or not in the area of collective bargaining. As this Court has previously determined, the people have presumptively consented to collective bargaining and its effects on the employer-employee relationship by all employees by the adoption of Article I, Section 6, and the Legislature may only negate this consent if it can demonstrate a compelling state interest justifying the denial of this right to particular employees.

In City of Tallahassee v. PERC, 410 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1981), this Court reiterated that the intent of the people in adopting Article I, Section 6 was to provide public employees with the same rights of collective bargaining as granted private employees. Thus, if private attorneys have the right to collectively bargain with their client-employers, so too do public employees unless the compelling state interest test is satisfied.

The National Labor Relations Board has long recognized the right of private attorneys to collectively bargain with their employers, specifically rejecting the position urged by the State in this case in 1948:

> The fact that attorneys are "officers of the court" and "fiduciaries" is not a sufficient bases for denying them the benefits of the NLRA since their wages, hours, and conditions of employment remain matters to be determined by their employer rather than by the courts.

The client/attorney relationship does not preclude these employees from exercising their statutory right to bargain collectively since the entire

-40 -

association between the employer and its attorneys is pervaded by an employer/employee relationship.

Lumberman's Mutual Casualty Co. of Chicago, 75 NLRB 120, 21 LRRM 1107, 1108 (1948). Private attorneys have enjoyed collective bargaining rights both before and after the adoption of Article I, Section 6 in 1968. <u>Wayne County Neighborhood Legal Services, Inc.</u>, 229 NLRB 1023 (1977); <u>Airline Pilots Association, International</u>, 97 NLRB 122 (1951). Thus, under the straightforward <u>City of</u> <u>Tallahassee</u> analysis, publically employed attorneys also enjoy the right to collectively bargain with their client-employers.

The State argues that the people cannot be deemed to have consented to collective bargaining by their attorneys because there was no private sector precedent in Florida for such bargaining by attorneys when Article I, Section 6 was ratified. This position is clearly in error as the above-cited NLRB cases demonstrate.

Moreover, a similar argument was rejected in <u>City of</u> <u>Tallahassee</u>. The public employer argued that this Court was considering rights of employees under state statutes, not under the federal labor laws, when it held in <u>Dade County Classroom Teachers</u> <u>Association v. Ryan</u>, 225 So.2d 903, 905 (Fla. 1969), that "with the exception of the right to strike, public employees have the same rights of collective bargaining as are granted private employees by Section 6." This Court disagreed and clearly stated that its holding in <u>Ryan</u> in fact did refer to employee rights under the federal labor laws. 410 So.2d at 490. Therefore, paraphrasing this

-41-

Court in <u>City of Tallahassee</u>, if private attorneys may collectively bargain, then under the plain language of <u>Ryan</u> so too may publicly employed attorneys.

The Legislature has no more authority to refuse to consent to government attorney collective bargaining than it does to refuse to consent to its attorneys' exercise of the rights of religious freedom, freedom of speech and press, due process and numerous other basic rights guaranteed by the state and federal constitutions. Just as with these other fundamental rights, the Legislature must satisfy the strict scrutiny standard to restrict the right of publically employed attorneys to collectively bargain, which it has clearly failed to do.

The State's "consent" argument was not even mentioned by either lower court although it was argued below just as forcefully as before this Court. That is so, Appellees submit, because it is patently frivolous. Accordingly, this Court should likewise reject it out of hand.

-42-

THIS COURT SHOULD NOT CONSIDER THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEE STATUS OF ASSISTANTS AND DEPUTIES TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL AND THE STATEWIDE PROSECUTOR IN THIS CASE

Although the State claims in its third argument that the district court erred when it stated that the circuit court's determination that assistants and deputies to the Attorney General and the Statewide Prosecutor are officers, not public employees, had "no affect beyond the present case," it made no argument to that effect and provided this Court with no basis for disturbing the district court's disposition of Appellees' cross-appeal below. What the State actually argued, on page 38 of its brief, was that the public employee status of these positions "must be resolved by this Court prior to any further proceedings in this case" Because that is obviously not so, the State's arguments should be rejected.

There is not now, and never has been, any reason to adjudicate the public employee status of assistants and deputies to the Attorney General and the Statewide Prosecutor in order to determine whether Section 447.203(3)(j) is facially unconstitutional. This case has never been about which attorney classifications should or should not be included in any bargaining unit which might be certified by PERC. Rather, Appellees' facial challenge has been based upon the exclusion of <u>all</u> attorneys from the constitutional right to collectively bargain, whomever they may be. Because there is no question that there are hundreds of attorneys employed by the

III.

-43-

State who are not assistants or deputies to the Attorney General or the Statewide Prosecutor, it simply does not matter whether they are public employees or not for purposes of determining the constitutionality of Section 447.203(3)(j). Appellees crossappealed the circuit court's conditional determination of this issue and the district court rejected the appeal as moot. The State is therefore not adversely affected by the district court's ruling on the cross-appeal and this Court has no jurisdiction to review the district court's comments why it affirmed the circuit court's ruling on the motion for partial summary judgment.

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